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CORPORATE PHILOSOPHY

Vision
To grow Finlays profitably and sustainably by serving as the industry’s
trusted leader in the supply of tea (in all its wonderful varieties, formats
and applications), coffee and botanical extracts to the world’s beverage
brand owners.

Mission
To Connect Humanity through Natural Beverages. Combining tradition
and innovation to create a healthier, happier and better world by bringing
the best from bush to cup.

Values
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CHAIRMAN/MANAGING DIRECTOR’S
REVIEW
2020 was an extremely challenging year for your Company as
well as the Country due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
which prevailed during a greater part of the year under
review. Nevertheless, our team rose to the occasion and
was able to confront and overcome the many obstacles that
we were faced with, which is reflected in your Company’s
performance and results for the year.
From a value-added perspective of Teabags and Packets,
which form the core of our business, whilst Sri Lanka’s
export volume in 2020 declined by 13% compared to 2019
our value-added exports declined by only 4%, which was
primarily due to the efforts of our marketing and production
teams. Our focus on product formats of value addition and
new investments in automation over the last couple of years
continue to yield positive results.
The Company, post-divestments now comprised of Beverage
Packing & value-added exports, Green Tea manufacturing
and Tea Warehousing & Blending which represent its
Tea Sector, recorded an exceptional EBIT growth of 32%
compared to 2019. In addition, we continue to feature
amongst Sri Lanka’s top 10 exporters in the value-added Tea
segment with greater emphasis in promoting the brand of
“Pure Ceylon Tea”.
We continue to focus on driving productivity through our
operations and during the year we made further investments
by commissioning two new Tea packeting machines at our
state-of-the-art packing facility in Welisara.
2020 also saw the disposal of two-thirds of Finlays’ ownership
in Vauxhall Land Development (Private) Limited to the other
joint venture partners.

The year ahead
The COVID-19 pandemic is still with us along with its
adverse impacts, which will undoubtedly have an influence
on your Company’s path of performance in 2021.
The Management will focus on ensuring the continuity of
our operations so that we could serve our customers across

the world without any disruption. This will be achieved
whilst adhering to the Health and Safety guidelines issued by
regulators and other authorities, thus ensuring the safety and
protection of all our employees.
2021 will also see the disposal of Finlays’ balance one-third
ownership in Vauxhall Land Development (Private) Limited
and finalisation of relocation of Finlays’ offices from Colombo
where it has been in occupation at Vauxhall Street to its
complex at Welisara.
I am confident that the strength and stability of your
Company together with the resilience and determination of
our employees, will see us well positioned to take on the
challenges that the future may hold.

Change in Directorate
Ms. Coralie Pietersz and Mr. Naresh Ratwatte retired from
the services of the Company during the year, and I take this
opportunity to thank Ms. Pietersz and Mr. Ratwatte for their
unstinted service at Finlays and wish them well in all their
future endeavours.
The Board welcomed two new members, Mr. B. V. Sinthaka
Ruwan and Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai. I warmly welcome them
and look forward to receiving their valuable insights and
guidance.

Acknowledgements
I would like to thank all our employees for their dedication
and hard work under such challenging conditions that
prevailed during the year, and my colleagues on the Board for
their valuable advice and counsel that I continue to receive.
I also thank our customers, some of whom have been our
partners for decades, for their continued patronage, valuable
feedback, and the sense of cooperation and goodwill that
have characterised our relationships throughout the years.
In conclusion, I take this opportunity to thank all our
shareholders for the continued trust and confidence placed
in my team and me.

Gihan S. Jayasinghe
Colombo
12th May, 2021
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REVIEW OF
OPERATIONS
Tea Exports
Despite Sri Lanka’s tea production shortfall of 21.7 million
kg in 2020, the Beverage Packing division recorded another
successful year. The export division consistently ranks within
Sri Lanka’s top 10 exporters in the value-added segment.
Even though the country’s exports of packeted tea declined
by 17.8%, the Company’s exports of packeted tea declined
only by 5.2%. In the tea bagging segment, which is considered
the highest value addition sector, the division recorded a
growth of 14.6% compared to the national growth in this
segment of 4.9%.
In order to further automate the packaged tea segment,
the division purchased two new packeting machines to
strengthen production at the state-of-the-art packing facility
in Welisara.
Despite travel restrictions due to COVID-19, the division
participated at the Gulfood 2020 exhibition where packing
capabilities were showcased to interested global customers.

Green Tea
The Green Tea factory situated in Haldummulla continues
to receive orders for both the Chinese and Japanese types
of Green Tea, and due to logistical difficulties in sourcing
supplies from abroad faced by other Sri Lankan Green Tea
exporters as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, increased
offtake by local exporters was witnessed during the year.

Tea Warehousing
Despite the reduction in national tea production, a strong
marketing effort helped to increase capacity utilisation and
volumes handled by the division during the year.

Financial Review
The Group recorded a profit before tax from continuing
operations of LKR 2,532 million in 2020 (which included the
profit on disposal of investment in joint venture amounting
to LKR 1,924 million) compared to LKR 3,288 million in 2019
(which included the profit on disposal of subsidiary amounting
to LKR 2,726 million). Profit after tax from continuing
operations amounted to LKR 2,399 million compared to LKR
3,183 million in the previous year. The total comprehensive
income for the period under review amounted to LKR 2,391
million compared to LKR 3,191 million in the previous year.
Group turnover decreased to LKR 5,656 million in 2020 from
LKR 6,071 million in 2019. Cost of sales which amounted to
LKR 4,488 million, decreased by 7%, from LKR 4,811 million

in the previous year. Consequently, gross profit decreased by
7% to LKR 1,168 million while the gross profit to sales ratio
remained at 21%. Tax expense from continuing operations
was LKR 134 million compared to LKR 105 million in the
previous year. The deferred tax charge for 2020 amounts to
LKR 13 million. The previous year’s tax expense includes a
deferred tax charge of LKR 4 million.

Revenue
Revenue from tea exports decreased by LKR 480 million
from LKR 6,092 million in 2019 to LKR 5,612 million in
2020 mainly due to the decline in packeted tea exports. The
revenue from logistics operations increased by LKR 2 million
against 2019 due to improved capacity utilisation despite
reduced national tea production.

Earnings Before Interest and Tax
Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) from continuing
operations amounted to LKR 2,488 million compared to
LKR 3,209 million the year before. However, EBIT excluding
profit on sale of joint venture/subsidiary amounted to LKR
564 million against LKR 427 million in the previous year.
EBIT of Tea Exports recorded a marginal decrease due to a
drop in packeted tea exports. However, due to the savings
in expenditure and amortisation of Vauxhall Street building
in 2019, the overall EBIT was higher than the previous year.
An exchange gain on forward exchange contracts of LKR
39 million (2019: LKR 50 million) has been included under
finance income. The EBIT of the Logistics sector recorded
a marginal increase from LKR 60 million in 2019 to LKR 65
million in 2020.

Non-current Assets
Total non-current assets amounted to LKR 1,740 million as
at 31st December 2020 representing 27% of total assets.
Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property
amounted to LKR 1,687 million.

Working Capital
Current assets as at end 2020 amounted to LKR 4,689
million compared to LKR 3,131 million as at the end of the
previous year. The increase is mainly due to reclassifying the
balance shares in the joint venture as held for sale. There
was an increase in current liabilities by LKR 113 million to
LKR 736 million in 2020 mainly due to the increase in trade
payables. Overall Group net working capital increased to
LKR 3,953 million, compared to LKR 2,508 million in 2019.
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Net cash decreased from LKR 1,524 million in 2019 to LKR
1,478 million in 2020.
The current ratio of 6.4 in 2020 improved from 5.0 in 2019.
The quick ratio of 5.1 has also improved from 3.2 reported
in 2019.

Cash Flow
The Group generated a cash inflow of LKR 714 million before
working capital changes compared to LKR 671 million in the
previous year. Cash generated from operations amounted to
LKR 1,201 million and the net cash inflow during the period
was LKR 541 million.

Capital Structure
The gearing ratio remained low, reinforcing the strength of
the balance sheet in terms of opportunity to raise funds for
future investment.

Earnings per Share (EPS)
The Group recorded an EPS at LKR 68.54 as against LKR
92.13 in 2019.
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SUSTAINABILITY
PERFORMANCE REVIEW
“Finlays is committed to creating a
sustainable future; it is the only future we
have.”
A sustainable future supports and reinforces our values and mission to be an ethical
and purpose-driven business. This is supported by the six strategic objectives that
cover ‘bush to cup’ across all regions of Finlays’ Global operations.
At Finlays we recognise that effective and efficient management of resources is not
only good for the environment but is also good business practice. We continue to
measure and improve our performance in resource use and work towards minimising
our negative impacts on the environment.

by April

2021.

The

upgraded

system operates using advanced
technologies including both aerobic
and anaerobic digestion and a series
of filtration systems resulting in
improved levels of BOD, COD and
suspended solids in the effluents.
In addition to the health, safety
and environmental benefits this is
expected to positively impact our
energy use and allows us to reuse
the treated wastewater for irrigation
purposes.

Finlays Colombo Limited Environment Performance
2020

2019

Variance

Total Energy use

GJ

27,455

42,892

36 % reduction

Total water use

m3

21,366

27,022

21% reduction

Total carbon emission

Tonnes CO2e

1,093

1,265

14% reduction

Total waste recycled

kg

76,150

72,868

5 % increase

At Finlays we believe
in creating a positive
and sustainable change
in the communities we
operate in.
The CSR initiative of repainting

The Beverage Packing operation at Welisara, Sri Lanka has been implementing
a planned Energy Management strategy since 2015. This strategy takes a twoway approach of employee involvement in energy conservation and technological
improvements in energy efficiency with an objective of year-on-year (YoY) reduction
in energy use. Over the years we have implemented various initiatives which had
a significant impact on the division's total energy consumption YoY despite the
expansion in plant machinery and production capacity.

the

crèches/Child

Development

Centres (CDCs) on our Tea estates,
which was launched in December
2018 to commemorate 125 years of
Finlays’ presence in Sri Lanka, was
the key project for 2020. Despite
setbacks due to the COVID-19
pandemic we managed to complete

In February 2020 we carried out a second energy audit through which we have been

the project as planned. 63 CDCs of

able to set a baseline for future planning on energy conservation and reduction in

a total of 105 functioning crèches/

carbon emissions. Despite the CAPEX restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic,

CDCs on our tea estates in Sri Lanka

the engineering department initiated several actions which are expected to reduce

were repainted and given a facelift

grid electricity consumption and scope 2 emissions. Commencing in November

through this project.

2020, we replaced inefficient Air Conditioners (AC) with Variable Refrigerant Volume
(VRV) type AC units which are more energy efficient, use latest environment friendly
refrigerants and improved energy monitoring capabilities. This project is expected to
save at least 15% of the energy used for the air conditioning in those areas.

As an outcome of this project 21
CDCs that had structural issues and
required major repair were identified
and

through

conveying

these

A trial was done in modification on the Material Handling Equipment (MHEs)

observations and lobbying with the

charging system, where the 8-hour charging cycle of the MHEs was shifted to off-

Plantation

peak hours (22.30 to 05.30 Hrs). The results of the trial indicated a 40% saving

Trust (PHDT), we managed to secure

on energy cost while contributing to load balance of the national grid and carbon

funding for 14 CDCs which includes

emission reductions. This is now being rolled out in suitable areas of operation.

4 new CDCs.

An upgrade of the existing effluent treatment plant of the Facility (sewerage and

Closure

wastewater) was commenced in December 2020 and is planned to be commissioned

restrictions on conducting tuition

Human

of

Development

schools

and

the
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classes adversely impacted our English language teaching
programme. With much difficulty and limited facilities, the
teacher has managed to keep the children engaged using
handouts and online platforms for teaching.
At Finlays we recognise the increasing need to be transparent
and traceable at all levels throughout our supply chains.
Our tea packing facility at Welisara continues to maintain
internationally acceptable quality and food safety standards
including customer specified requirements. In 2020 we
achieved significant progress in our work with our Global
sourcing team, brokers, and key suppliers to establish a
mechanism for 100% traceability to accepted standards in
our auction tea purchases.
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS ON THE AFFAIRS
OF THE COMPANY
The details set out herein provide the pertinent information

The Group profit after tax from continuing operations

required by the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

amounted to LKR 2,399 million (2019 – LKR 3,183 million).

Principal Activities

The Company has paid an interim dividend of LKR 201 per
share amounting to LKR 7,035 million during the year. Total

The Company and its subsidiaries form a diversified business

Comprehensive Income for the period amounted to LKR

undertaking whose key activities comprise blending and

2,391 million (2019 – LKR 3,191 million).

packaging tea for export. The Group is also engaged in
warehousing tea and the manufacture and export of specialty
teas such as Green Tea.

Business Review/Future Developments
A review of the business of the Company and its performance
during the year, with comments on financial results, is
contained in the Chairman/Managing Director’s Review on
page 02 of this report. These, together with the Financial
Statements reflect the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group.
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief,

The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend
of LKR 30.00 per share for the year ended 31st December
2020. This is to be approved at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 30th June 2021. This dividend together with
the interim dividend of LKR 201.00 per share results in a
total dividend of LKR 231.00 per share.

Stated Capital
The stated capital of the Company is LKR 636 million, divided
into 35 million ordinary shares. There was no change in the
Stated Capital of the Company during the year.

confirm that the Company has not engaged in any activities

Reserves

that contravene laws and regulations.

Reserves of the Group as at 31st December 2020 amounted

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Company are given on pages
14 to 51.

Auditor’s Report

to LKR 4,633 million (2019 – LKR 9,276 million). The
movement of reserves is shown in the Statement of Changes
in Equity.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of Property, Plant and Equipment of the Group,

The Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements is given on

additions and disposals made during the year and depreciation

pages 12 and 13.

charged during the year, are shown in Note 5 to the Financial

Accounting Policies

Statements.

The Accounting Policies adopted in the preparation of the

Events subsequent to the Reporting Date

Financial Statements are given on pages 19 to 28. There

No significant events have occurred since the reporting

were no changes in the Accounting Policies adopted.

date other than those disclosed in Note 31 to the Financial

Group Turnover/Exports

Statements.

Group turnover amounted to LKR 5,656 million (2019 – LKR

Employment Policies

6,071 million). An analysis of turnover is given in Note 22 to

Policies of Finlays Colombo Limited which also encompass

the Financial Statements. The export turnover of the Group

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Limited and Finlay Teas (Pvt) Limited

amounted to LKR 5,612 million (2019 – LKR 6,092 million).

respect

Results and Dividend
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December
2020 show a decrease in profit before tax from continuing
operations to LKR 2,533 million (2019 – LKR 3,288 million).

individuals

and

provide

equal

opportunities,

irrespective of gender, race or religion. All three companies
together employed 253 persons as at 31st December 2020
compared to 271 as at 31st December 2019.
The Board appreciates that communication and employee
engagement is key to build trust and promote teamwork
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and many opportunities are provided to interact as well
as be informed. Employees as well as their families are
encouraged to participate in many events and activities on
an annual basis. Furthermore, employees are given periodic
feedback about their individual performance as well as the
performance of the companies. Employees are encouraged
to provide feedback through various forums to improve
operational performance and working conditions.
Training and competency development receive high priority,
and ample growth opportunities are available to high

Corporate Donations
Donations made by the Group to charities amounted to LKR
1,488,000/- (2019 – LKR 2,500,000/-). Furthermore, to
assist the Government’s efforts at controlling the COVID-19
pandemic, your Company made a contribution of LKR 10
million to the ITUKAMA COVID-19 Healthcare and Social
Security Fund in November 2020. No donations were made
for political purposes.

Directorate

performers.

The Directors who served on the Board in the year 2020

Environment, Health and Safety

C. Pietersz (retired on the 30th of April 2020), Messrs N. K.

It is the Group’s policy to actively manage any adverse effects

are Messrs G. R. Chambers, N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe, Ms. M.
H. Ratwatte (retired on the 31st of December 2020), D. J.

on the environment as a result of the Group’s operations

Ratwatte and J. M. Rutherford.

and to cooperate and comply with the relevant authorities

Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan and Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai were appointed

and regulations. As part of the Group’s commitment to the
preservation of the environment, the appraisal of all significant
capital expenditure projects includes an assessment of the
impact on the environment of such projects.
There is also a heightened awareness of safety, health and
environmental issues among all employees and it is the
Group’s endeavour to achieve continuous improvement
through agreed-upon targets and to achieve Zero Harm
across the business.

Interests Register
The Company maintains a Directors’ Interests Register
conforming to the provisions of the Companies Act No. 7
of 2007.
The Directors of the Company have disclosed their interests
in other companies to the Board and those interests are
recorded in the Interests Register.

to the Board on 11th November 2020 and 1st January 2021
respectively and the Board of Directors proposes their
election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company.
Messrs D. J. Ratwatte, G. R. Chambers and J. M. Rutherford
retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for reelection.

Related Party Transactions
The Directors have disclosed transactions (if any), that
could be classified as related party transactions in terms of
LKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” which is adopted in
the preparation of financial statements. Those transactions
disclosed by the Directors are given in Note 36 to the
financial statements forming part of the Annual Report of the
Board. The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary
course of business with the following entities having one or
more Directors in common.
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Director

Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe
Ms. M. C. Pietersz

Company

Mr. N. K. H. Ratwatte

Plantations PLC

Common Director

Mr. D. J. Ratwatte
Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan
Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai

110,256

Rental Income

10,406

11,250

Service Income

4,708

739

Contract Packing

2,932

6,397

23,070

-

25,427

70,410

6,044

4,410

Purchase of Tea Private sale
Udapussellawa

Mr. N. K. H. Ratwatte

Plantations PLC

(Retired on 31st December 2020)

52,629

Recovery of
Expenses

(Retired on 30th April 2020)

Mr. D. J. Ratwatte
Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan
Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford

2019
LKR ‘000

Private sale
Hapugastenne

Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe
Ms. M. C. Pietersz

2020
LKR ‘000

Purchase of Tea -

(Retired on 30th April 2020)
(Retired on 31st December 2020)

Nature of
Transaction

Relationship

Common Director
Rental Income

James Finlay Limited - UK

Common Director

Management fee

24,684

20,187

Finlay Beverages Limited - UK

Common Director

Export of Tea

29,204

12,926

Common Director

Export of Tea

243,693

431,794

Finlay Extracts & Ingredients
USA, Inc.

The Directors, at their meetings, have declared all material interests in contracts involving the Company and have refrained
from voting on matters in which they were materially interested.

Auditors
In accordance with the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, a resolution proposing the re-appointment of Messrs KPMG, Chartered
Accountants, as Auditors to the Company will be submitted at the Annual General Meeting.
The Auditors, Messrs KPMG, were paid LKR 1,619,000/- as audit fees by the Group. In addition, they were paid LKR
2,187,000/- by the Group for non-audit related work, which consisted mainly of tax consultancy services.
As far as the Directors are aware, the Auditors do not have any relationship with the Company other than those disclosed
above. The Auditors also do not have any interest in the Company.

Annual General Meeting
The Forty Sixth (46th) Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held as an Audio or Audio/Visual Meeting at Finlay
House, 186, Vauxhall Street, Colombo 2, on Wednesday 30th June 2021, at 9.00 a.m.
By Order of the Board

N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe
Chairman/Managing Director
Colombo
12th May, 2021

B. V. S. Ruwan
Director

S S P Corporate Services Pvt Ltd
Company Secretary
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
N. H. G. S. JAYASINGHE
Mr. Jayasinghe joined the Group in February 2006, as the Chief Executive Officer of Finlay
Cold Storage (Pvt) Limited and was appointed a Director of the subsidiary in February 2008.
Gihan was appointed an Executive Director of Finlays Colombo Limited in November 2014, and
subsequently as Managing Director from May 2018, Deputy Chairman from September 2018
and Chairman from January 2020. He was appointed to the Boards of Hapugastenne Plantations
PLC and Udapussellawa Plantations PLC in April 2017. Mr. Jayasinghe presently serves as the
Chairman and Managing Director of Finlays Colombo Limited, Hapugastenne Plantations PLC
and Udapussellawa Plantations PLC, and as Country Head, Finlays – Sri Lanka.
He holds a Masters degree in Business Administration (MBA), is a Fellow of the Chartered
Management Institute - UK (FCMI) and a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport - UK (CMILT). He has served as an Executive Committee/Council Member
in the Sri Lanka branches of these institutes in various capacities including Vice Chairman of CILT
Sri Lanka. He also serves as a Council Member of the Employers’ Federation of Ceylon.

B. V. S. RUWAN
Having joined the Company in April 2020, Sinthaka was appointed an Executive Director of Finlays
Colombo Limited, as well as of Hapugastenne Plantations PLC and Udapussellawa Plantations
PLC in November 2020.
He has over 20 years work experience in the fields of finance, administration and supply chain
management.
He holds a B.Sc. in Financial Management and is a Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka.

D. J. RATWATTE
Mr. Ratwatte was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Finlays Colombo Limited in May
2017.
Dushanth is the Director/Chief Executive Officer of Hapugastenne Plantations PLC and
Udapussellawa Plantations PLC since January 2016. He joined the Company in 2014 as General
Manager - Sales and Marketing. He counts over 34 years of experience in the plantations industry
in Sri Lanka and overseas. He is a Member and Graduate of the Sri Lanka Institute of Directors
(SLID) and a Member of the Institute of Management of Sri Lanka MIM(SL).
He is a Fellow of the National Institute of Plantation Management (FIPM).

E. D. P. SOOSAIPILLAI
Independent Non-Executive Director appointed to the Board in January 2021. Mr. Soosaipillai is
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and a Fellow of the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants of Sri Lanka.
He is the Chairman of Commercial Credit and Finance PLC and functions as a Member of many
Board sub-committees at this institution.
Mr. Soosaipillai has over 30 years of experience in Finance and Accounting, Corporate Governance,
Risk Management and Compliance, both at the operational and strategic levels.
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G. R. CHAMBERS
Mr. Chambers became Managing Director of James Finlay Limited, London in September 2015.
Since joining John Swire & Sons in 1993, Guy has worked in China, Hong Kong and Taiwan for
Swire, most recently as COO of Damin (the world’s largest tea extracts manufacturer) and COO
of Swire Beverages (the largest Coca-Cola franchise bottler in China).
Mr. Chambers served as Non-Executive Chairman of Finlays Colombo Limited between
September 2018 and December 2020. He presently serves as a Non-Executive Director of the
Company.
Between 2014 and 2020, Mr. Chambers served on the Hong Kong Committee for Pacific Economic
Cooperation to advise the Hong Kong Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development on
matters relating to the participation of Hong Kong in the Pacific Economic Cooperation Council.
Mr. Chambers has also served as an advisor to Chatham House, the UK think-tank, on matters
relating to Greater China.

J. M. RUTHERFORD
Mr. Rutherford was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Finlays Colombo Limited on 1st
February 2013 on becoming Finance Director of James Finlay Limited, London. Julian is a qualified
Chartered Accountant (ICAEW) and holds a Bachelor of Science (BSc) degree in Economics from
the University of Southampton. Previously he spent 15 years with Associated British Foods, a UK
listed company, where he held a variety of senior Finance and other related posts.

Ms. M. C. PIETERSZ
Ms. Pietersz retired from the
Board on 30th April 2020
having reached retirement age.

N. K. H. RATWATTE
Mr. Ratwatte retired from the
Board on 31st December 2020
on completing his term of office.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial
Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Finlays Colombo
Limited, (“the Company”) and the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”), which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the
Company and the Group give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka
Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka
(Code of Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. When we read the annual report, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SLAuSs will always detect a material misstatement when it
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exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SLAuSs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
nn

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

nn

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company and the Group’s internal control.

nn

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

nn

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

nn

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements
As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No.
07 of 2007, we have obtained all the information and
explanations that were required for the audit and, as far as
appears from our examination, proper accounting records
have been kept by the Company.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Colombo, Sri Lanka
12th May, 2021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December

Group
LKR ‘000

Company

Note

2020

2019

2020

2019

5
6
7
8
9
10.1
20.1

1,475,763
190,741
20,826
1,868
50,804
1,740,002

1,483,173
194,946
6,078,910
1,707
53,062
7,811,798

693,941
19,881
238,080
87,414
50,804
1,090,120

695,684
238,080
8,619,695
87,253
53,062
9,693,774

12
10.2
13
11

903,869
219,223
42,181
1,494,337
2,028,953
4,688,563

1,147,150
1,933
388,945
1,839
1,590,736
3,130,603

885,619
139,710
42,181
1,440,329
2,876,051
5,383,890

1,098,749
1,933
344,433
1,839
4,092
1,545,892
2,996,938

6,428,565

10,942,401

6,474,010

12,690,712

16.2
17

636,194
258,577
4,373,922
5,268,693

636,194
258,577
9,017,573
9,912,344

636,194
258,273
4,426,661
5,321,128

636,194
258,273
10,864,934
11,759,401

19
20.2

291,918
112,207
19,500
423,625

279,545
108,253
19,500
407,298

38,185
112,207
150,392

32,355
108,253
140,608

21

663,831
55,702
105
16,609
736,247

530,845
6,713
18,814
66,387
622,759

631,646
40,480
313,755
16,609
1,002,490

509,491
214,825
66,387
790,703

1,159,872

1,030,057

1,152,882

931,311

Total equity and liabilities
6,428,565 10,942,401
6,474,010
The financial statements are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

12,690,712

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Equity accounted investee
Other investments
Defined benefits obligation - plan assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Other investments, including derivatives
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from related companies
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

14.1
15

Total assets

Equity

Stated capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Defined benefits obligation
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Amounts due to related companies
Bank overdrafts
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

18
14.2

H. P. S. Jayaratne

Group Financial Controller
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements. Signed for and on
behalf of the Board by,

N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe

Chairman/Managing Director
Colombo
12th May, 2021

B. V. S. Ruwan

Finance Director

The notes on pages 19 through 51 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December

Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Continuing operations
Revenue

22

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other income

23

5,655,862

6,071,198

5,477,076

5,950,153

(4,488,254)

(4,811,337)

(4,468,142)

(4,845,574)

1,167,608

1,259,861

1,008,934

1,104,579

1,972,241

2,813,079

251,716

3,662,447

Distribution expenses

(137,588)

(177,256)

(135,747)

(131,933)

Administrative expenses

(514,625)

(687,137)

(469,171)

(672,151)

Results from operating activities

2,487,636

3,208,547

655,732

3,962,942

Finance income

24.1

84,405

147,442

91,201

153,194

Finance cost

24.2

(39,448)

(67,934)

(39,400)

(67,800)

Net finance income
Profit before tax

Tax expense

26

Profit from continuing operations

44,957

79,508

51,801

85,394

2,532,593

3,288,055

707,533

4,048,336

(133,550)

(104,782)

(103,112)

(71,741)

2,399,043

3,183,273

604,421

3,976,595

Discontinued operations
Results from discontinued operations, net of tax
Profit for the year

-

40,874

-

-

2,399,043

3,224,147

604,421

3,976,595

(8,441)

(13,937)

(8,441)

(13,937)

-

(19,325)

-

-

(8,441)

(33,262)

(8,441)

(13,937)

2,390,602

3,190,885

595,980

3,962,658

2,399,043

3,224,712

604,421

3,976,595

Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

20.6

Foreign currency translation difference
Other comprehensive expenses for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company

-

(565)

-

-

2,399,043

3,224,147

604,421

3,976,595

Owners of the Company

2,390,602

3,190,885

595,980

3,962,658

Non-controlling interests

-

-

-

-

2,390,602

3,190,885

595,980

3,962,658

Non-controlling interests
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (LKR)

27.1

68.54

92.13

17.27

113.62

Diluted earnings per share (LKR)

27.2

68.54

92.13

17.27

113.62

The notes on pages 19 through 51 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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28
28

20.6

636,194

-

-

258,577

-

-

258,577

258,577

258,577

-

-

258,577
258,577

General
reserve

-

-

-

-

-

1,841
1,841
-

(14,494)
(14,494)

-

12,653
12,653

Exchange
reserve

(1,050,000)
(5,985,000)
(7,035,000)
4,373,922

(8,441)
2,390,602

2,399,043

747
9,018,320

9,017,573

(2,835,000)
(875,000)
(3,710,000)
9,017,573

(13,937)
3,210,775

3,224,712

9,516,053
745
9,516,798

Retained
earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

The notes on pages 19 through 51 form an integral part of the financial statements.

Dividends - interim 2020
- interim 2020
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2020

Transactions with owners

Defined benefits plan actuarial losses
Total comprehensive income for the year

Other comprehensive income

Profit for the year 2020

Total comprehensive income for the year

636,194

Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets

636,194

-

636,194

28
28

20.6

-

636,194
636,194

Stated
capital

Balance as at 1 January 2020

Dividends - interim 2019
interim 2019
Disposal of subsidiary
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2019

Transactions with owners

Defined benefits plan actuarial losses
Currency translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the year

Other comprehensive income

Profit for the year 2019

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 1 January 2019
Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets

LKR ‘000

Note

(1,050,000)
(5,985,000)
(7,035,000)
5,268,693

(8,441)
2,390,602

2,399,043

747
9,913,091

9,912,344

(2,835,000)
(875,000)
1,841
(3,708,159)
9,912,344

(13,937)
(14,494)
3,196,281

3,224,712

10,423,477
745
10,424,222

Total

-

-

-

-

-

20
20
-

(4,831)
(5,396)

(565)

5,376
5,376

Non-controlling
interests

(1,050,000)
(5,985,000)
(7,035,000)
5,268,693

(8,441)
2,390,602

2,399,043

747
9,913,091

9,912,344

(2,835,000)
(875,000)
1,861
(3,708,139)
9,912,344

(13,937)
(19,325)
3,190,885

3,224,147

10,428,853
745
10,429,598

Total equity
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - GROUP

For the year ended 31 December
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December

LKR ‘000

Note

Balance as at 1 January 2019
Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets

Stated capital

General
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total equity

636,194

258,273

10,611,531

11,505,998

-

-

745

745

636,194

258,273

10,612,276

11,506,743

-

-

3,976,595

3,976,595

-

-

(13,937)

(13,937)

-

-

3,962,658

3,962,658

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 2019
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

20.6

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Dividends - interim 2019

28

-

-

(2,835,000)

(2,835,000)

- interim 2019

28

-

-

(875,000)

(875,000)

-

-

(3,710,000)

(3,710,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2019

636,194

258,273

10,864,934

11,759,401

Balance as at 1 January 2020

636,194

258,273

10,864,934

11,759,401

-

-

747

747

636,194

258,273

10,865,681

11,760,148

-

-

604,421

604,421

-

-

(8,441)

(8,441)

-

-

595,980

595,980

Total transactions with owners

Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 2020
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

20.6

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Dividends - interim 2020

28

-

-

(1,050,000)

(1,050,000)

- interim 2020

28

-

-

(5,985,000)

(5,985,000)

-

-

(7,035,000)

(7,035,000)

636,194

258,273

4,426,661

5,321,128

Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2020

The notes on pages 19 through 51 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December

Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit before tax expense
Adjustments for
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment
Income from investments
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary
Gain on disposal of investment in equity accounted
investee
(Gain)/Loss on forward contracts
Discontinued operations
Finance costs
Deferred income/revenue
Gratuity provision

5/6
7
24.1
23
23
23

24.2

Changes in
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Finance costs paid
Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary
Proceeds from disposal of investment in equity
accounted investee
Acquisition of investments
Investment in other long term assets - gratuity
Interest received
Dividend received
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5
7

28

14
14

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

2,532,593

3,288,055

707,533

4,048,336

95,709
2,987
(45,016)
(1,271)
(1,923,703)

100,066
56,968
(97,233)
(1,732)
(2,726,292)
(55,970)

77,626
2,987
(51,812)
(1,271)
(205,015)

80,338
76,399
(102,985)
(1,732)
(3,544,433)
(88,675)

1,933
37,515
13,071
713,818

(42,717)
52,113
67,934
19,500
10,386
671,078

1,933
37,467
13,071
582,519

(42,717)
67,800
10,386
502,717

243,281
129,380
114,277
1,200,756
(37,515)
(71,440)
1,091,801

(56,502)
72,612
(145,890)
541,298
(67,934)
(80,138)
393,226

213,130
164,381
196,085
1,156,115
(37,467)
(51,963)
1,066,685

(30,242)
60,726
(13,150)
520,051
(67,800)
(63,979)
388,272

(92,103)
(23,813)
9,280
5,980,392

(101,002)
1,794
4,232,112
-

(83,742)
(22,868)
9,130
5,980,392

(93,537)
1,794
4,223,112
-

(6,894)
(15,300)
45,016
5,896,578

(17,814)
97,233
4,212,323

(6,894)
(15,300)
44,968
6,844
5,912,530

(17,814)
97,099
5,886
4,216,540

(7,035,000)
(7,035,000)

(3,710,000)
(3,710,000)

(7,035,000)
(7,035,000)

(3,710,000)
(3,710,000)

(46,621)
1,524,349
1,477,728

895,549
628,800
1,524,349

(55,785)
1,479,505
1,423,720

894,812
584,693
1,479,505

The notes on pages 19 through 51 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

01. Corporate Information
1.1 General
Finlays Colombo Limited (“Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka. The
registered office and the principal place of business is situated
at Finlay House, No. 186, Vauxhall Street, Colombo 2.
In the Annual Report of the Board of Directors and in the
financial statements, “the Company” refers to Finlays
Colombo Limited as the holding Company and “the Group”
refers to the Companies whose accounts have been
consolidated therein.
All financial information in the financial statements is in Sri
Lanka rupees thousands (LKR ‘000s) unless otherwise stated.

1.2 Principal Activities
Company
During the year, the principal activities of the Company were
tea blending and packing for export.
Group
During the year under review, the principal activities of the
Group were tea blending and packing for export, warehousing
of tea, and the manufacture and export of specialty teas such
as Green Tea.

1.3 Parent Enterprise and Ultimate Parent Enterprise
The Company’s parent undertaking is James Finlay Limited,
London. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s
ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is John
Swire & Sons Limited, which is incorporated in England.

1.4 Authorisation of Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 12th May
2021.

1.5 Going Concern
The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and being satisfied
that it has the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future, confirmed that they do not intend either
to liquidate or to cease operations of the Company.

Furthermore, Management is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue
to be prepared on a going concern basis.
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has increased the
estimation uncertainty in the preparation of these financial
statements.
The estimation uncertainty is associated with:
nn the extent and duration of the disruption to business

arising from the actions by governments, businesses and
consumers to contain the spread of the virus;
nn the extent and duration of the expected economic

downturn (and forecasts for key economic factors
including GDP, employment and house prices). This
includes the disruption to capital markets, deteriorating
credit, liquidity concerns, increasing unemployment,
declines in consumer discretionary spending, reductions
in production because of decreased demand, and other
restructuring activities; and
nn the effectiveness of Government and Central Bank

measures that have been and will be put in place
to support businesses and consumers through this
disruption and economic downturn.
The Group has developed various accounting estimates in
these financial statements based on forecasts of economic
conditions which reflect expectations and assumptions
as at 31 December 2020 about future events that the
Directors believe are reasonable in the circumstances. There
is a considerable degree of judgement involved in preparing
forecasts. The underlying assumptions are also subject to
uncertainties which are often outside the control of the
Company. Accordingly, actual economic conditions are likely
to be different from those forecast since anticipated events
frequently do not occur as expected, and the effect of those
differences may significantly impact accounting estimates
included in these financial statements.
The significant accounting estimates impacted by these
forecasts and associated uncertainties are predominantly
related to expected credit losses, fair value measurement,
and recoverable amount assessments of non-financial assets.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on each of these
accounting estimates was discussed further in the relevant

19
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

notes to these financial statements.
In preparing these financial statements, the management has
assessed the existing and anticipated effect of COVID–19
on the Company and the appropriateness of the use of the
going concern basis of preparation giving special attention
to the business sector based on available information and
the short- to medium-term economic outlook. The Company
has been evaluating the resilience of its business, considering
a wide range of factors such as expected revenue streams,
profitability, cost management initiatives implemented by the
Company, changes in working capital, management of capital
expenditure, debt repayments, cash reserves and available
sources of financing including unutilsed facilities and in
order to be able to continue business under current global
economic conditions.
Having evaluated the presentations made by the Company
on their future outlook, the Directors are satisfied that the
Company has adequate resources to continue its operations
at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the reporting
date, to justify adopting the going concern basis in preparing
these financial statements.

1.6 Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the
Income Statement unless required or permitted by Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards and as specifically disclosed in the
Significant Accounting Policies of the Company.

Accountants of Sri Lanka and the requirements of the
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

2.2 Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the following material items in
the statement of financial position:
nn The defined benefit asset is recognised as plan assets,

plus unrecognised past service cost, less the present
value of the defined benefit obligation.
nn Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair

value.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Sri Lankan Rupees (LKR), which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in LKR has been
rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise
indicated.

2.4 Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with SLFRSs/LKASs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is
included in the following notes:

02. Basis of Preparation
2.1 Statement of Compliance
The statement of financial position, statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows, together
with accounting policies and notes (“financial statements”)
of the Group as at 31st December 2020 and for the year
then ended, comply with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards
(SLFRSs/LKASs) as laid down by the Institute of Chartered

nn Note 6 - classification of investment property

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment within the next financial year is included in the
following notes:
nn Note 19 - Deferred taxation
nn Note 20 - Measurement of defined benefit obligations
nn Note 30 - Contingencies
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

03. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all
the Group entities.

3.1 Basis of Consolidation
3.1.1 Business Combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group.
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for
impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed
as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at
the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay a contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial
instrument is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured
and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

3.1.2 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases.

3.1.3 Loss of Control
On the loss of control, the Group de-recognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests and the other components of equity related to the
subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest
in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at
fair value at the date that control is lost.

Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted
investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending
on the level of influence retained.

3.1.4 Non-Controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

3.1.5 Investments in Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the
Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and
operating decisions.
They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share
of the profit and loss and other comprehensive income
of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which
significant influence or joint control ceases. The results of the
joint venture, Vauxhall Land Development (Pvt) Ltd (VLDPL),
in which the Company has a 39.72% holding, have been
accounted for using the equity method. During the year, the
Company disposed 66.66% of its ownership in VLDPL.

3.1.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

3.2 Foreign Currency
3.2.1 Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the
respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are re-translated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised
cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year
and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the year.
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Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are re-translated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a
foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on re-translation are
recognised in profit or loss.

3.2.2 Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
to Sri Lankan Rupees at exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated to Sri Lankan Rupees at exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and presented in the foreign currency
translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity.

3.3 Financial Instruments
3.3.1 Financial Assets
Initial Recognition and Measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially
recognised when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) or financial liability is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL
(Fair value through profit or loss), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial
Assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified
as amortised cost; FVOCI (Fair value through other
comprehensive income) debt investment; FVOCI - equity
investment; or FVTPL (Fair value through profit or loss).
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Company changes its business model
for managing financial assets, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first

reporting period following the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
FVTPL:
nn it is held within a business model whose objective is to

hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
nn its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL:
nn it is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and
nn its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held
for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial
recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to
be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
Re-classification of Financial Assets
Re-classification of financial assets is required if the Company
changes its business model for managing those financial
assets. Re-classification is applied prospectively from the
date of the re-classification.
De-recognition of Financial Assets
On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the carrying amount (measured at the
date of de-recognition) and the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) shall be recognised in profit or loss.
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Impairment
Financial Instruments and Contract Assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for Expected
Credit Losses (ECLs) on:
nn financial assets measured at amortised cost;
nn debt investments measured at FVOCI; and the Company

measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-month ECLs:
nn debt securities that are determined to have low credit

risk at the reporting date; and
nn other debt securities and bank balances for which credit

risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward
looking information.
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Company in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset. Presentation of Allowance for ECL in the
Statement of Financial Position Loss allowances for financial
assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt securities at
FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is
recognised in OCI.

3.3.2 Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities are initially recognised only when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value. The Company’s financial liabilities include
trade and other payables. After initial recognition, interestbearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. A financial liability is de-recognised only
when it is extinguished - i.e. when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

3.3.3 Stated Capital
3.3.3.1 Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
3.4.1 Recognition and Measurement

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of certain items of property, plant and
equipment was determined by reference to a previous
SLASs revaluation. The Group elected to apply the optional
exemption to use this previous revaluation as deemed cost
at 1 January 2011, the date of transition.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life
of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to
credit risk.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and borrowing costs on qualifying assets.

nn the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to

the Company in full, without recourse by the Company
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
nn the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
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Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment, and are recognised net within other income
in profit or loss.

3.4.2 Subsequent Costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is de-recognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
3.4.2.1 Fully Depreciated Assets
If an entity uses, for the purpose of deriving economic
benefits, fully depreciated assets, then the entity shall bring
such assets back on its statement of financial position.
The entity shall estimate the remaining useful life of
such assets and shall reinstate the cost and accumulated
depreciation at amounts which would have been reflected
in the balance sheet on the date of reinstatement had the
entity measured depreciation from date of acquisition of the
assets based on the total useful life including the estimated
remaining useful life and adjust the difference under equity.

3.4.3 Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount,
which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted
for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset.
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease
term. Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative

periods are as follows:
Buildings

- 67 years

Plant & Machinery

- 10 to 20 years

Factory and other Equipment

- 5 to 10 years

Furniture, Fittings & Office Equipment

- 4 to 7 years

Motor Vehicles

- 4 years

Pallets

- 2 to 4 years

3.5 Investment Property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Investment property is measured at cost. When the use of
a property changes such that it is reclassified as property,
plant and equipment, its carrying value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

3.6 Lease Assets
Previously, the Group classified property leases as operating
leases under LKAS 17. On transition, for these leases, lease
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted at the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.
Right-of-use Assets are measured at either:
nn their carrying amount as if SLFRS 16 had been applied

since the commencement date, discounted using the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application: The Group applied this approach to its
largest property lease; or
nn an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the

amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments: The
Group applied this approach to all other leases.
The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment
on the date of transition and has concluded that there is no
indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
a consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in SLFRS 16.
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This policy is applied to contracts entered into on or after 1
January 2019.
Allocation of Consideration
At commencement or on modification of a contract that
contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the
straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the rightof-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-ofuse asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, at the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by
obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms
of the lease and type of the asset leased.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following:
nn fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
nn variable lease payments that depend on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

nn amounts expected to be payable under a residual value

guarantee; and
nn the exercise price under a purchase option that the

Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties
for early termination of a lease unless the Group is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in
the statement of financial position.
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured
at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

3.7 Intangible Assets
3.7.1 Recognition and measurement
Intangible assets are acquired by the Group and have finite
useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

3.7.2 Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embedded in the specific asset
to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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3.7.3 Useful economic lives, amortisation, and
impairment
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to
modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate,
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss in the expense
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible
assets.

3.7.4 Software
All computer software cost incurred, which are not internally
related to associate hardware, which can be clearly identified,
reliably measured and it is probable that they will lead to
future economic benefits, are included in the Statement of
Financial Position under the category of intangible assets and
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Software in intangible assets mainly consists of the Microsoft
licence upgrade acquired by the Group.
The estimated useful lives for software – 4 to 8 years

3.7.5 De-recognition
An intangible asset is de-recognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any
gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss when the
asset is de-recognised.
There were no intangible assets pledged by the Group as
security for facilities obtained from the banks (2019 - Nil).

3.8 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out or weighted average principle, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production
or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing
them to their existing location and condition.

In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress,
cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads
based on normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

3.9 Employee Benefits
3.9.1 Retirement Benefit Obligations
3.9.1.1 Defined Benefit Plan – Gratuity
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan
other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net
obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to
determine its present value. The retirement benefit plan
adopted is as required under the Payment of Gratuity Act
No.12 of 1983.
Provision for gratuity on the employees of the Group is
based on actuarial valuation as recommended by Sri Lanka
Accounting Standard No.19 ‘Employee Benefits’ (LKAS-19).
The actuarial valuation was carried out by a professionally
qualified firm of actuaries, as at 31 December 2020. The
valuation method used by the actuary is “Projected Unit
Credit Method”. The Group recognises any actuarial gains
and losses arising from the defined benefit plan immediately
in other comprehensive income and all expenses related
to the defined benefit plan in personnel expenses in the
statement of comprehensive income.
3.9.1.2 Defined Contribution Plan – MSPS/EPF/ETF
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee
benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees. Employees are eligible
for Mercantile Service Provident Society Fund contributions
or Employees’ Provident Fund contributions and Employees’
Trust Fund contributions in line with respective statutes and
regulations.
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3.9.2 Short-Term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided.

3.10 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is
recognised as finance cost.

3.11 Revenue
3.11.1 Revenue Recognition
SLFRS 15 established a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. Under SLFRS 15, revenue is recognised when
a customer obtains control of the goods or services.
Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point
in time or over time – requires judgement. Under SLFRS 15,
revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognition will not occur.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and associated costs incurred or to be incurred
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable net of trade
discounts and sales taxes after eliminating sales within the
Group.
The following specific criteria are used for the purpose of
recognition of revenue:
a) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary
activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and
volume rebates.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer; with the Group retaining neither
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.

b) Rendering of Services
Warehousing Income
Income from warehousing is calculated by reference to the
time period of the contract, on an accrual basis.
c) Rental Income
Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.
d) Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised on a cash basis.

3.12 Finance Income and Finance Costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested
(including available-for-sale financial assets) and dividend
income. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit
or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognised in profit or loss on cash basis.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and
export bills discounting.
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest
method.

3.13 Taxes
Current Tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date.
The provision for income tax is based on the elements of
the income and expenditure as reported in the financial
statements and computed in accordance with the provisions
of the Inland Revenue Act No.24 of 2017 and its subsequent
amendments thereto.
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
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laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity
is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
Turnover based Taxes
Turnover based taxes include Value Added Tax (VAT), in
respect of trading activities. Companies in the Group pay
such taxes in accordance with the respective statutes.
IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The interpretation is to be applied to the determination of
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments under LKAS 12. It does not apply
to taxes or levies outside the scope of LKAS 12 nor does
it specifically include requirements relating to interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
However, the application of IFRIC 23 did not have an impact
on the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

3.14 Discontinued Operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:
nn represents a separate major line of business or

geographic area of operations;
nn is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a

separate major line of business or geographic area of
operations; or
nn is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the
earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held-for-sale.
When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation,
the comparative statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation
had been discontinued from the start of the comparative
year.

3.15 Segment Reporting
The Group has two reportable segments, as described
below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. The
strategic divisions offer different products and services
and are managed separately because they require different
technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic
divisions, the Group’s Managing Director (the chief operating
decision maker) reviews internal management reports on at
least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments.
nn Tea exports - Tea blending and packing for export,

manufacture and export of specialty teas such as Green
Tea.
nn Logistics - Warehousing of tea.

04. New Standards issued but not Effective
as at Reporting Date
Several new standards are effective from annual periods
beginning after 1 January 2020 and earlier application is
permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the
new or amended standards in preparing these financial
statements.
The following amended standards and interpretations are
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group
financial statements.
nn COVID-19 - Related Concessions (Amendment to

SLFRS 16)
nn Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before

intended use (Amendment to LKAS 16)
nn Reference of Conceptual Framework (Amendments to

SLFRS 3)
nn Classification of Liabilities as current or non-current

(Amendments to LKAS 1)
nn SLFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to

SLFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
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05. Property, plant and equipment
5.1 Group
LKR ‘000

Land &
buildings

Plant &
machinery

Furniture,
fittings
& office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Pallets

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January 2020

918,208

1,054,272

623,999

34,139

20,241

36,819

2,687,678

Additions

-

6,556

15,384

886

-

69,277

92,103

Disposals

-

(2,186)

(14,122)

-

-

(815)

(17,123)

Transfers from C.W.I.P

-

18,922

21,133

-

-

(40,055)

-

918,208

1,077,564

646,394

35,025

20,241

65,226

2,762,658

161,916

499,830

500,258

22,517

19,984

-

1,204,505

5,485

46,224

33,926

5,671

198

-

91,504

-

(2,186)

(6,928)

-

-

-

(9,114)

Balance at 31 December 2020

Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2020
Charge for the year
Disposals
Classification changes

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

167,401

543,868

527,256

28,188

20,182

-

1,286,895

At 1 January 2020

756,292

554,442

123,741

11,622

257

36,819

1,483,173

At 31 December 2020

750,807

533,696

119,138

6,837

59

65,226

1,475,763

Balance at 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts

Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount of LKR 696 million (2019 LKR 597 million).
Based on the assessment carried out internally by the Board of Directors, no provision was required for the potential
impairment of fixed assets as at 31 December 2020.
There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year (2019 - Nil).
There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as security as at 31 December 2020.
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05. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.)

5.2 Company
LKR ‘000

Buildings

Plant &
machinery

Furniture,
fittings
& office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

56,051

1,113,983

384,587

25,079

35,120

1,614,820

Additions

-

-

13,614

886

69,242

83,742

Disposals

-

-

(11,825)

-

(665)

(12,490)

Transfers from C.W.I.P

-

18,922

21,133

-

(40,055)

-

56,051

1,132,905

407,509

25,965

63,642

1,686,072

56,051

523,691

324,995

14,399

-

919,136

-

40,280

33,004

4,342

-

77,626

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January 2020

Balance at 31 December 2020

Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2020
Charge for the year
Disposals

-

-

(4,631)

-

-

(4,631)

56,051

563,971

353,368

18,741

-

992,131

At 1 January 2020

-

590,292

59,592

10,680

35,120

695,684

At 31 December 2020

-

568,934

54,141

7,224

63,642

693,941

Balance at 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts

Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount of LKR 535 million (2019 LKR 451 million).
Based on the assessment carried out internally by the Board of Directors, no provision was required for the potential
impairment of fixed assets as at 31 December 2020.
There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year (2019 - Nil).
There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as security as at 31 December 2020.
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06. Investment property
Group
LKR ‘000

2020

Company
2019

2020

2019

261,890

66,944

89,628

89,628

-

194,946

-

-

261,890

261,890

89,628

89,628

Balance at 1 January

66,944

9,976

89,628

13,229

Charge for the year

4,205

-

-

-

-

56,968

-

76,399

71,149

66,944

89,628

89,628

190,741

194,946

-

-

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January
Classification from Property, plant and equipment
Balance at 31 December

Depreciation

Impairment
Balance at 31 December
Net carrying amount

6.1 The Group has earned LKR 122.4 million for the year ended 31st December 2020 (2019: LKR 73.4 million) as rental
income from the above investment properties.

6.2 The Company has earned LKR 66.3 million (2019: LKR 78.5 million) as rental income from the above investment
properties.

6.3 The Group has incurred LKR 1.9 million (2019: LKR 1.1 million) direct operating expenses (including repair and
maintenance) arising from investment property for the year ended 31 December 2020.

6.4 The Company has incurred LKR 1.9 million (2019: LKR 1.7 million) direct operating expenses (including repair and
maintenance) arising from investment property for the year ended 31 December 2020.

6.5 The Group investment property includes Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd. land leased out to Emergent Cold (Pvt) Ltd. Land
including those classified as investment properties were revalued as at 30 June 2018 by Mr. P. P. T. Mohideen, an
independent valuer.

6.6 The Group land and buildings including those classified as investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2010 by Mr. P. W. De S. Senaratne, an independent valuer. Such values have been taken as deemed cost of both
property, plant & equipment and investment properties as at 1 January 2011.
A revaluation of Group land was carried out during the year 2015 by Mr. P. P. T. Mohideen, an independent valuer.
According to this valuation the market value of the land owned by the Group is LKR 937 million.
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07. Intangible Assets
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

-

-

-

-

Additions

22,868

-

22,868

-

Balance at 31 December

22,868

-

22,868

-

Software
Cost
Balance at 1 January

Amortisation
-

-

-

-

Amortisation for the year

2,987

-

2,987

-

Balance at 31 December

2,987

-

2,987

-

19,881

-

19,881

-

945

-

-

-

20,826

-

19,881

-

Balance at 1 January

Net book value

Capital work in progress
Net carrying amount

08. Investments in subsidiaries
Company
LKR ‘000

Holding %

2020

2019

Non-quoted
Finlay Airline Agencies (Pvt) Ltd

100

50

50

Finlay Tea Solutions Colombo (Pvt) Ltd

100

200

200

Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd

100

37,000

37,000

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd

100

200,830

200,830

Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd

100

500

500

238,580

238,580

(500)

(500)

238,080

238,080

500

500

500

500

Total Non-Quoted Investments in Subsidiaries

Provision for impairment (Note 8.1)

8.1 Provision for impairment - investments in subsidiaries
Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd
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09. Equity accounted investee
Group
LKR ‘000

Holding %

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

39.72

6,078,910

6,061,277

8,619,695

8,602,062

6,733

17,633

6,733

17,633

Divestment during the year

26.48

(4,056,690)

-

(5,750,377)

-

Transferred to assets held for sale

13.24

(2,028,953)

-

(2,876,051)

-

-

6,078,910

-

8,619,695

Investment in joint venture
Vauxhall Land Development (Pvt) Ltd
Investment at the beginning of the year
Investment during the year

Investment at the end of the year

9.1 Finlays Colombo Limited signed a joint venture agreement with Whittal Boustead (Private) Limited and JK Land
(Private) Limited, for the development of its freehold property of 595.91 perches at 186, Vauxhall Street, Colombo 2
on 12th March 2018. Following the signing of the joint venture agreement, Finlays Colombo Limited transferred its
land to Vauxhall Land Development (Pvt) Limited (VLDPL), a Company owned by the partners in the joint venture, in
consideration for which VLDPL issued 860,206,224 shares at LKR 10.00 per share, amounting to 39.72% of its share
capital to Finlays Colombo Limited.

9.2 In 2019, VLDPL issued 1,763,316 shares at LKR 10.00 per share bringing the total number of shares owned by Finlays
Colombo Limited to 861,969,540 shares.

9.3 During the year 2020, VLDPL issued 673,296 shares at LKR 10.00 per share bringing the total number of shares
owned by Finlays Colombo Limited to 862,642,835 shares.

9.4 Finlays Colombo Limited disposed 66.66% of its ownership in VLDPL on 24th September 2020. Disposal gain has
been recognised under other income (Note 23).

10. Other investments, including derivatives
Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

1,868

1,707

1,868

1,707

10.1 Non-current
Fixed deposits
Debt securities

10.3

-

-

85,546

85,546

1,868

1,707

87,414

87,253

-

1,933

-

1,933

10.2 Current
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging

10.4
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10. Other investments, including derivatives (Contd.)

10.3

Interest-bearing available-for-sale financial assets represents the investment in cumulative preference shares of
Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd (subsidiary company) with a carrying amount of LKR 85.5 million as at 31 December 2020
(2019: LKR 85.5 million), which have a stated preference dividend rate of 6.5% p.a. These shares can be redeemed
at the option of the holder (Finlays Colombo Limited).

10.4

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to other investments are disclosed in Note 37.

11. Amounts due from related companies
Group
LKR ‘000

Hapugastenne Plantations PLC
James Finlay Plantation Holdings Lanka Ltd

Relationship

Affiliate
Affiliate

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

41,581
600
42,181

1,239
600
1,839

41,581
600
42,181

1,239
600
1,839

12. Inventories
Group
LKR ‘000

Tea stocks
Packing materials
Others
Less: Provision for slow moving & obsolete stocks

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

812,660
74,924
59,616
947,200
(43,331)
903,869

1,069,287
93,646
55,145
1,218,078
(70,928)
1,147,150

796,081
74,388
58,481
928,950
(43,331)
885,619

1,020,886
93,646
55,145
1,169,677
(70,928)
1,098,749

13. Trade and other receivables
Group
LKR ‘000

Trade debtors
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
Other debtors
Advances and pre-payments

13.1

Company

Note

2020

2019

2020

2019

13.1

60,948
(24,368)
36,580

188,497
(43,495)
145,002

59,347
(24,046)
35,301

149,855
(43,313)
106,542

170,398
12,245
219,223

223,023
20,920
388,945

93,135
11,274
139,710

221,387
16,504
344,433

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to trade & other receivables are disclosed in Note 37.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

1,494,337

1,590,736

1,440,329

1,545,892

(16,609)

(66,387)

(16,609)

(66,387)

1,477,728

1,524,349

1,423,720

1,479,505

14.1 Favourable cash and cash equivalent balances
Cash and bank balances

14.2 Unfavourable bank balances
Bank overdrafts (unsecured)
Net cash and cash equivalent for the purpose of cash flow statement

15. Assets held for sale
Group
LKR ‘000

Investment in joint venture

15.1

Holding %

13.24

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

2,028,953

-

2,876,051

-

2,028,953

-

2,876,051

-

Assets Held for Sale include 13.24% of the remaining ownership of the Investment in equity accounted investee of
Vauxhall Land Development Private Limited (This note should be read along with Note 09).

16. Stated Capital
Group
‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

At the beginning of the year

35,000

35,000

35,000

35,000

At the end of the year

35,000

35,000

35,000

35,000

16.1 Number of ordinary shares issued and fully paid

Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

At the beginning of the year

636,194

636,194

636,194

636,194

At the end of the year

636,194

636,194

636,194

636,194

16.2 Value of issued and fully paid ordinary shares

16.3

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at a meeting of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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17. Reserves
Group

Company

LKR ‘000

Note

2020

2019

2020

2019

Revenue reserves

17.1

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

17.1 Revenue reserves
General reserve

General reserve which is a revenue reserve represents the amounts set aside by the Directors for general application.

18. Amounts due to related companies
Group

Company

LKR ‘000

Relationship

2020

2019

2020

2019

James Finlay Ceylon (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

200

200

Parent company

-

18,709

-

18,709

Subsidiary

-

-

209,472

161,152

James Finlay Ltd
Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd
Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

86,631

17,312

Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

9,000

9,000

Finlay Airline Agencies (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

8,347

8,347

James Finlay Kenya Limited

Affiliate

105

105

105

105

105

18,814

313,755

214,825

2020

2019

2020

2019

279,545

274,822

32,355

36,078

19. Deferred tax liabilities
Group
LKR ‘000

Balance at the beginning of the period

Company

Recognised in the statement of profit or loss
Reinstatement of fully depreciated asset
Origination/(reversal) of temporary difference
Disposal of subsidiary
Balance at the end of the period

(747)

(745)

(747)

(745)

13,120

3,941

6,577

(2,978)

-

1,527

-

-

291,918

279,545

38,185

32,355
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19. Deferred tax liabilities (Contd.)
2020
LKR ‘000

2019

Liability

Net

Liability

Net

Property, plant and equipment

291,918

291,918

279,545

279,545

Net deferred tax liability

291,918

291,918

279,545

279,545

Property, plant and equipment

38,185

38,185

32,355

32,355

Net deferred tax liability

38,185

38,185

32,355

32,355

19.1 Deferred tax liabilities - Group

19.2 Deferred tax liabilities - Company

20. Defined benefits
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

2,512

2,512

2,512

2,512

48,292

50,550

48,292

50,550

50,804

53,062

50,804

53,062

880

880

880

880

111,327

107,373

111,327

107,373

112,207

108,253

112,207

108,253

20.1 Defined benefits plan assets
Employees joined before 1992/93
- Eagle Mutual Fund
Employees joined after 1992/93
- Plan assets

20.2 Defined benefit obligations
Employees joined before 1992/93
- Present value of funded obligations
Employees joined after 1992/93
- Present value of funded obligations

Retiring gratuity is a defined benefit plan - covering employees of the Group. The Group’s liability arising on retirement
benefits of employees who joined prior to 1992/93 is externally funded and this had been invested in Eagle Mutual Funds.
Subsequent to 1992, the externally funded policy purchased from AIA Insurance Lanka PLC, covers 255 (2019 - 272)
employees attached to the Group.
An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at 31 December 2020 by Mr. M. Poopalanathan attached to Actuarial and
Management Consultants (Pvt) Limited.
The valuation method used by the actuary is the “Projected Unit Credit Method”, the method recommended by LKAS 19
‘Employee Benefits’. The premium for the current year is LKR 63.9 million (2019 - LKR 57.7 million).
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20. Defined benefits (Contd.)
The results of the actuarial valuation indicate the following, which have been accounted for;
Group
LKR ‘000

Fair value of the plan assets
Present value of funded obligations
Present value of net obligation

2020

Company
2019

2020

2019

48,292

50,550

48,292

50,550

(111,327)

(107,373)

(111,327)

(107,373)

(63,035)

(56,823)

(63,035)

(56,823)

The above net obligation has been provided for in the financial statements.
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year

50,550

102,635

50,550

102,635

Contribution paid into the plan

15,300

-

15,300

-

Expected return on plan assets

5,561

11,803

5,561

11,803

(25,100)

(15,707)

(25,100)

(15,707)

1,981

(48,181)

1,981

(48,181)

48,292

50,550

48,292

50,550

2020

2019

2020

2019

107,373

135,136

107,373

135,136

20.3 Movement in fair value of plan assets

Benefits paid by the plan
Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

The above amount is invested with AIA Insurance Lanka PLC.
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

20.4 Movement in the present value of the defined
benefit obligations
Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest costs
Benefits paid during the year
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Defined benefit obligations at the end of the year

6,724

6,546

6,724

6,546

11,908

15,641

11,908

15,641

(25,100)

(15,706)

(25,100)

(15,706)

10,422

(34,244)

10,422

(34,244)

111,327

107,373

111,327

107,373

(5,561)

(11,803)

(5,561)

(11,803)

20.5 Expense recognised in profit or loss
Expected return on plan assets
Current service cost
Interest costs on obligation

6,724

6,546

6,724

6,546

11,908

15,641

11,908

15,641

13,071

10,384

13,071

10,384

The expense is recognised in the administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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20. Defined benefits (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

5,415

19,352

5,415

19,352

Recognised during the year

(8,441)

(13,937)

(8,441)

(13,937)

Amount accumulated in retained earnings at 31 December

(3,026)

5,415

(3,026)

5,415

2020

2019

2020

2019

Rate of discount

9.0%

11.0%

9.0%

11.0%

Future salary increases

8.0%

8.0%

8.0%

8.0%

20.6 Actuarial gains and losses recognised in other
comprehensive income
Amount accumulated in retained earnings at 1 January

20.7 Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows;
Group

Company

Assumptions regarding mortality are based on A 1967 / 70 Mortality Table, issued by The Institute of Actuaries, London.

20.8 Sensitivity analysis - Salary Escalation Rate as at 31 December 2020
LKR

If rate is 7%

Estimated present value of defined benefit obligations

If rate is 9%

107,638,991 117,071,048

20.8 Sensitivity analysis - Discount Rate as at 31 December 2020
LKR

If rate is 8%

Estimated present value of defined benefit obligations

If rate is 10%

116,624,811 108,125,033

20.9 Historical information - Group and Company
LKR ‘000

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of the defined benefit obligation

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

48,292

50,550

102,635

103,883

92,900

(111,327)

(107,373)

(135,136)

(145,630)

(127,543)

(63,035)

(56,823)

(32,501)

(41,747)

(34,643)

21. Trade and other payables
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Trade payables

282,407

283,825

281,501

281,501

Other payables

381,424

247,020

350,145

227,990

663,831

530,845

631,646

509,491
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22. Revenue
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

5,395,473
260,389
5,655,862

5,892,329
178,869
6,071,198

5,395,473
81,603
5,477,076

5,842,812
107,341
5,950,153

22.1 Goods and services analysis
Sales of goods
Rendering of services

22.2 Segment information
Segment revenue
LKR ‘000

Segment result

2020

2019

2020

2019

5,611,652
135,877
81,603
5,829,132
(173,270)
5,655,862

6,092,407
134,292
107,342
6,334,041
(262,843)
6,071,198

640,098
100,324
1,747,214
2,487,636

710,810
94,229
2,403,508
3,208,547

84,405
(39,448)
2,532,593

147,442
(67,934)
3,288,055

22.2.1 Revenue and results - Group
Tea exports
Logistics
Others/unallocated
Inter-segment revenue
External revenue
Finance income
Finance cost
Profit before tax

22.2.2 Assets, liabilities, etc. - Group
Total assets
LKR ‘000

Tea exports
Logistics
Investments
Related company balances
Unallocated
Income tax (recoverable)/
liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other deferred liabilities

Total liabilities

Purchase of property,
plant & equipment

Depreciation

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

3,000,252
987,152
3,987,404
2,081,625

3,303,426
951,628
4,255,054
6,133,679

456,821
10,768
467,589
-

413,257
6,212
419,469
-

84,236
7,493
91,729
-

81,966
4,926
86,892
-

76,685
10,953
87,638
-

78,222
11,567
89,789
-

42,181
317,355
-

1,839
551,829
-

105
212,851
55,702

18,814
177,763
6,713

24,187
-

14,110
-

11,058
-

67,245
-

6,428,565

10,942,401

291,918
131,707
1,159,872

279,545
127,753
1,030,057

115,916 101,002

98,696 157,034
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22. Revenue (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Europe

68,352

America

536,807

140,638

68,352

140,638

717,632

536,807

717,632

4,387,475

4,580,526

4,387,475

4,580,526

Far East

283,158

272,079

283,158

272,079

Sri Lanka

298,363

237,265

119,577

116,220

22.2.3 Geographical segment
Revenue

Middle East

Rest of the world

81,707

123,058

81,707

123,058

5,655,862

6,071,198

5,477,076

5,950,153

23. Other income
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment

1,271

1,732

1,271

1,732

Profit on disposal of investment in subsidiary

-

2,726,292

-

3,544,433

1,923,703

55,970

205,015

88,675

46,505

28,125

45,030

27,172

Profit on disposal of investment in equity accounted investee
Exchange gain
Sundry income

762

960

400

435

1,972,241

2,813,079

251,716

3,662,447

24. Finance income and finance cost
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

43,875

96,139

43,874

96,165

24.1 Finance income
Interest income on fixed and call deposits
Interest income on loans and receivables
Exchange gain on forward contracts
Income from investments with related parties - dividend - Non-Quoted

1,141

1,094

1,094

934

39,389

50,209

39,389

50,209

-

-

6,844

5,886

84,405

147,442

91,201

153,194
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24. Finance income and finance cost (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

4,796

17,521

4,748

17,387

32,719

50,413

32,719

50,413

37,515

67,934

37,467

67,800

1,933

-

1,933

-

39,448

67,934

39,400

67,800

44,957

79,508

51,801

85,394

24.2 Finance cost
Interest expense on overdrafts with banks
Export bills discounting charges
Exchange loss on forward contracts

Net Finance income recognised in profit or loss

24.3 Exchange gain on Forward Contracts pertaining to previous year has been included in exchange gain under other income.

25. Profit before tax
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

42,649

40,846

42,649

40,846

1,619

1,463

1,075

977

2,187

1,928

1,801

1,564

Depreciation

95,709

100,066

77,626

80,338

Amortisation

2,987

-

2,987

-

-

56,968

-

76,399

Stated after charging/(crediting)
Directors’ emoluments
Auditors’ remuneration - Statutory audit services
Non-audit related services

Impairment
Personnel costs include

274,858

278,244

243,991

241,314

- Defined contribution plan costs - MSPS/EPF & ETF

23,554

28,181

20,814

25,934

- Defined benefit plan costs - insurance premium

63,915

57,703

63,915

57,703

Legal fees

1,437

3,447

1,437

3,447

Donations

11,488

2,500

11,488

2,500

Exchange gains

85,894

78,334

84,419

77,381

1,271

1,732

1,271

1,732

54,085

58,944

53,985

58,944

- Salaries & wages

Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment
Advertising
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26. Income tax expense
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

113,656

89,502

89,745

64,338

6,774

(6,234)

6,790

(6,234)

Capital gains tax

-

16,615

-

16,615

Dividend tax

-

958

-

-

120,430

100,841

96,535

74,719

13,120

3,941

6,577

(2,978)

133,550

104,782

103,112

71,741

26.1 Current tax expense
Current tax expense on ordinary activities for the year
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years

26.2 Deferred tax expense
Charge/(release) made during the year from;
Property, plant and equipment
Income tax expense reported in the income statement

26.3

Reconciliation between accounting profit and taxable profit
Group

LKR ‘000

Accounting profit before tax
Adjustments relating to disallowances

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

2,532,593

3,288,055

707,533

4,048,336

116,911

251,480

98,666

231,687

(135,722)

(125,933)

(128,955)

(117,458)

(1,768,018)

(2,843,307)

(36,207)

(3,703,007)

745,764

570,295

641,037

459,558

14% - 28%

14% - 28%

14%

14%

Income tax payable on profit

113,656

89,502

89,745

64,338

Current income tax expense

113,656

89,502

89,745

64,338

Adjustments relating to capital allowances
Adjustments relating to allowable income
Taxable profit

Statutory tax rate %

26.4

Finlays Colombo Limited is liable for income tax at 14% from the year of assessment 2019/2020 under the Inland
Revenue Act No. 24 of 2017 as the Company is predominantly conducting a business of tea exporting.

26.5

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd is liable to pay income tax at the rate of 28% from the year of assessment 2019/2020.

26.6

Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd is liable to pay income tax at the rate of 14% from the year of assessment 2019/2020.

26.7

Deferred tax has been computed using the future effective tax rate. i.e. 14% - 28%.
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27. Earnings per share
27.1

Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Group

Amount used as the numerator:

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

2,399,043

3,224,712

604,421

3,976,595

Net profit attributable to:
Ordinary shareholders for basic earnings per share (LKR ‘000)

Number of ordinary shares used as denominator:
35,000

35,000

35,000

35,000

Basic earnings per share (in LKR)

68.54

92.13

17.27

113.62

Diluted earnings per share (in LKR) (Note 27.2)

68.54

92.13

17.27

113.62

Number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)

27.2

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year after adjustment for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
As at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019 there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares. Hence diluted
earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share.

28. Dividend per share
The dividend per share is based on the dividends paid during the period covered by the financial statements
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2020

2019

2020

2019

Interim dividend 2020 - LKR 30.00 per share (2019 - LKR 81.00)

1,050,000

2,835,000

1,050,000

2,835,000

Interim dividend 2020 - LKR 171.00 per share (2019 - LKR 25.00)

5,985,000

875,000

5,985,000

875,000

7,035,000

3,710,000

7,035,000

3,710,000

201.00

106.00

201.00

106.00

Dividends paid

Dividend per ordinary share (in LKR)

29. Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted but not provided for in the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December
2020 was LKR Nil (2019 - LKR Nil).
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30. Contingencies
(a) Bills discounted at reporting date awaiting realisation
amounted to LKR 1,061 million (2019 - LKR 788 million).
(b) Bank guarantees pertaining to imports at the reporting
date amounted to LKR 93 million (2019 - LKR 102.7
million).

33. Comparative Information
Except for the adoption of new accounting standards
and interpretations with effect from 1 January 2020, the
Company has consistently applied the accounting policies
with those adopted in the previous financial year. The
presentation and classification of the financial statements
of the previous period, have been adjusted, where relevant,
for better presentation. The impact of adopting these new
accounting standards and interpretations are disclosed in
relevant notes in the financial statements.

31. Events occurring after the reporting date
Appointment of an Independent Director
The Board, through a Resolution in writing adopted by
circulation dated 1 January 2021 resolved to appoint Mr.
E. D. P. Soosaipillai as a member of the Board of Directors
(Independent Non-Executive Director), with effect from 1
January 2021.
The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend of
LKR 30.00 per share amounting to LKR 1,050 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. This is to be approved at the
Annual General Meeting to be held on 30 June 2021.
There were no other material events occurring after the
reporting date as at 31 December 2020 that require
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.

32. Assets pledged

34. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on the
Financial Statements
The Company’s response to the pandemic focused on securing
a safe work environment for the employees, continuing the
business operations, providing the customers with quality
and safe services and supporting our communities as a
socially responsible corporate citizen.
As encouraged by the Sri Lankan Government, the Company
being a business operating in the provision of Business
Services industry/sector, we were able to continue our
operations despite COVID-19. Due to the strategic response
to the pandemic, all the business segments operated
smoothly.
The Company continued to work towards securing business
continuity and providing safe and quality services to
customers while ensuring the health and well-being of all
employees at all the Company’s locations.

There were no assets pledged as at the reporting date.

35. Director’s Responsibility Statement
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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36. Related party Disclosure
The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary course of its business with parties who are defined as related parties in
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 24 - Related Party Disclosures, the details of which are reported below. The consideration for
the goods and services provided has been paid or accrued at market prices prevailing at that time.
LKR ‘000

2020

2019

(54,108)

(48,023)

3,334

2,893

80,000

30,000

5,458

5,382

(115,797)

(185,222)

16,450

15,660

4,602

6,397

36.1 Transactions with subsidiary companies
Nature of transaction
Rent Paid
Allocation of common expenses
Fund transfers
Salary re-charged
Purchase of goods/services

36.2 Transactions with other related companies
Nature of transaction
Rent received
Rendering of services

3,038

739

Sale of goods/services

296,537

514,423

Purchase of goods/services

(39,138)

(220,801)

Reimbursement of expenses

(24,684)

(20,187)

23,070

-

Allocation of common expenses

Recovery of expenses

36.3

Subsidiary companies have periodically transferred surplus cash to the Holding Company, whereas the Holding
Company has also met the cash requirements of those subsidiary companies as necessary. The resultant net balances
have been shown in Notes 11 and 18 to these financial statements.

36.4

From time to time Directors of the Group, or their related entities, may transact with the Group. These transactions
are on the same terms and conditions as those entered in to by other customers.

36.5

Related party transactions with key management personnel
According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, Key Management Personnel
(KMPs), are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity. Accordingly, the Board of Directors (including Executive and Non-Executive Directors) and their Close Family
Members (CFM) have been classified as KMPs of the Company.
CFM of the KMPs are those family members who may be expected to influence or be influenced by KMPs in their
dealings with the entity. They may include KMPs domestic partner and children of the KMPs domestic partner and
dependants of the KMPs and the KMPs domestic partner.
The Group has paid LKR 42.6 million (2019 - LKR 40.8 million) to the Directors as emoluments, of which LKR
39.2 million (2019 - LKR 37.3 million) was paid as short-term employment benefits and LKR 3.4 million (2019 LKR 3.6 million) was paid as post-employment benefits during the year. Other than that there are no transactions,
arrangements and agreements involving key management personnel and other related parties.

15

Assets held for sale

18

14.2

Amounts due to related companies

Bank overdrafts

21

18

14.2

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14.1

Amounts due from related companies 11

Cash and cash equivalents

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value
through
OCI

660,210

(16,609)

(313,755)

(631,646)

1,440,329

42,181

139,710

3,104,149

(16,609)

(105)

(663,831)

2,028,953

1,494,337

42,181

219,223

Amortised
cost

Carrying amount (LKR ‘000)
Fair value
through
profit or loss

-

-

-

13

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2020

Company

21

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities

14.1
-

-

Amounts due from related companies 11

-

13

Fair value
hedging
instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2020

Group

Note

660,210

(16,609)

(313,755)

(631,646)

1,440,329

42,181

139,710

3,104,149

(16,609)

(105)

(663,831)

2,028,953

1,494,337

42,181

219,223

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 3

Fair Value (LKR ‘000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not
include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

37.1 Accounting classifications and fair values

37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management
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14.2

Bank overdrafts

21

18

14.2

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities

-

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14.1

-

1,933

-

-

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value
through
OCI

1,101,461

(66,387)

(214,825)

(509,491)

1,545,892

1,839

-

344,433

1,365,474

(66,387)

(18,814)

(530,845)

1,590,736

1,839

-

388,945

Amortised
cost

Carrying amount (LKR ‘000)
Fair value
through
profit or loss

-

Amounts due from related companies 11

10.2

Other investments, including derivatives

-

Cash and cash equivalents

13

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2019

Company

21

18

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Financial liabilities

-

14.1

-

1,933

Amounts due from related companies 11

10.2

Other investments, including derivatives

-

Fair value
hedging
instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

13

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2019

Group

Notes

37.1 Accounting classifications and fair values (Cont.)

37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)

1,103,394

(66,387)

(214,825)

(509,491)

1,545,892

1,839

1,933

344,433

1,367,407

(66,387)

(18,814)

(530,845)

1,590,736

1,839

1,933

388,945

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 1

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

1,933

-

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

1,933

-

Level 2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 3

Fair Value (LKR ‘000)

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

1,933

-

1,933

-

-

-

-

-

1,933

-

Total
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37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)

37.2 Fair value measurement
37.2.1 Fair value measurement hierarchy
The Group and the Company use the following hierarchy
for determining and disclosing the fair value of assets and
liabilities by valuation techniques:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data

Committee is assisted in its role by Internal Audit. Internal
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the
Audit Committee.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from
the Group’s receivables from customers and investment
securities.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the
maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was as follows.

37.3 Financial risk management
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from
financial instruments.
nn Credit risk
nn Liquidity risk
nn Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure
to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Group’s management of capital.
Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop
a disciplined and constructive control environment in which
all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group Audit Committee monitors the process through
which business risks are identified for action by management
and for the Board’s attention and monitors the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal controls. The Group Audit

LKR ’000

Other investments, including derivatives
Trade and other receivables
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Amounts due from related companies
Total

2020

2019

-

1,933

219,223

388,945

1,494,337 1,590,736
42,181

1,839

1,755,741 1,983,453

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. However,
management also considers the demographics of the Group’s
customer base, including the default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate, as these factors may
have an influence on credit risk. During 2020, approximately
59% (2019: 57%) of the Group’s revenue was attributable to
sales transactions with three multinational customers.
Each new customer is analysed individually for
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and
delivery terms and conditions are offered. Customers that
fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a pre-payment basis.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
trade and other receivables. The main components of this
allowance are a specific loss component that relates to
individually significant exposures, and a collective loss
component established for groups of similar assets in respect
of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The
collective loss allowance is determined based on historical
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37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)
data of payment statistics for similar
financial assets.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for
trade and other receivables at the reporting
date by geographic region was as follows.
LKR ’000

Europe

2020

2019

-

14,450

-

33,091

Middle East

11,209

52,905

Far East

21,411

36,190

Sri Lanka

186,603

252,309

Total

219,223

388,945

America

Impairment losses
Trade and other receivables at the reporting
date were not impaired. As at 31 December
2020 provision for impairment of the Group
amounted to LKR 24.4 million (2019 – LKR
43.5 million).
Cash and cash equivalents
The Group held cash and cash equivalents
of LKR 1,494 million at 31 December 2020
(2019: LKR 1,590 million), which represents
its maximum credit exposure on these
assets. The cash and cash equivalents are
held with banks. Respective credit ratings
of banks in which Group cash balances are
held are as follows;
nn Standard Chartered Bank – AAA(lka)
nn Hongkong and Shanghai Banking

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group’s reputation.
The Group maintains the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount
in excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities (other than trade
payables) over the succeeding 60 days. The Group also monitors the level of
expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with expected
cash outflows on trade and other payables. In addition, the Group maintains
a LKR 545.5 million overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest would be
payable at the market rate.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities
As at 31 December 2020
LKR ’000

Carrying
Value

Contractual
Cash flows

2 Months
or Less

2 to 12
Months

663,831

663,831

662,317

1,514

105

105

105

-

Non-Derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to related
companies

16,609

16,609

16,609

-

Total

Bank overdrafts

680,545

680,545

679,031

1,514

As at 31 December 2019
LKR ’000

Carrying
Value

Contractual
Cash flows

2 Months
or Less

2 to 12
Months

530,845

530,845

530,331

514

Amounts due to related
companies

18,814

18,814

18,814

-

Bank overdrafts

66,387

66,387

66,387

-

616,046

616,046

615,532

514

Non-Derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total

Corporation Ltd – AA-(lka)
nn Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC –

AA+(lka)
nn Sampath Bank PLC – AA-(lka)
nn Hatton National Bank PLC – AA+(lka)
nn National Development Bank PLC –

A+(lka)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
will encounter difficulty in meeting the
obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group’s

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis would
occur significantly earlier or at a significantly different amount.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange
rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.
Hedging Policy
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that
are denominated in a currency other than Sri Lankan Rupees.
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37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)
At any point in time the Group hedges 50% of its net
estimated foreign currency exposure in respect of forecast
sales and purchases over the following six months. The Group
uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk,
most with a maturity of less than one year from the reporting
date. Such contracts generally are designated as cash flow
hedges.
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group’s policy is to
ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level
by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when
necessary to address short-term imbalances.
Interest rate risk
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
and the Group does not designate derivatives as hedging
instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.
Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date
would not affect profit or loss.
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as
to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. Capital consists
of ordinary shares, retained earnings and non-controlling
interests of the Group. The Board of Directors monitors the
return on capital as well as the level of dividends to ordinary
shareholders. The Group’s net debt to adjusted equity ratio
at the reporting date was as follows;
LKR ’000

2020

2019

1,159,872

1,030,057

(1,494,337)

(1,590,736)

Net debt

(334,465)

(560,679)

Total equity

5,268,693

9,912,344

-

(1,933)

5,268,693

9,910,411

(0.06)

(0.06)

Total liabilities
Less: cash and cash
equivalents

Amounts accumulated in equity
related to cash flow hedges
Adjusted equity
Net debt to adjusted equity
ratio as at 31 December
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NOTICE OF MEETING
FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED – PQ 61 PB
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE FORTY SIXTH (46TH) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 30TH JUNE 2021
AT 9.00 A.M., AS AN AUDIO OR AUDIO/VISUAL MEETING WITH ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ONLINE
MEETING PLATFORM MADE AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY AT “FINLAY HOUSE”, 186,
VAUXHALL STREET, COLOMBO 2.
AGENDA
1. To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the Company and the
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st December 2020 together with the Report of the Auditors
thereon.
2. To declare a final dividend of LKR 30/- per share as recommended by the Directors.
3. To re-elect Mr. D. J. Ratwatte, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
4. To re-elect Mr. G. R. Chambers, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
5. To re-elect Mr. J. M. Rutherford, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
6. To re-appoint Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan, who retires in terms of Article 142 of the Articles of Association of the
Company at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
7. To re-appoint Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai, who retires in terms of Article 142 of the Articles of Association of the
Company at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
8. To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities up to a limit of LKR 2,500,000/- for the
financial year ending 31st December 2021.
9. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine
their remuneration.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED
S S P CORPORATE SERVICES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

SECRETARIES
Date: 4th June, 2021

Note:1. A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself/herself. A Form of Proxy
accompanies this notice.
2. The completed Form of Proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office, Finlay House, 186, Vauxhall Street,
Colombo 2, not less than forty-eight hours before the time fixed for the Meeting.

Finlays Colombo Limited
No. 186, Vauxhall Street,
Colombo 2,
Sri Lanka.
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